AD A 0 5953

Y

HDL-TR-1863

September 1978



A Method for Determining the Probability of Vehicle Overturn in Nuclear Engagements

ODC FILE COPY

by John S. Wicklund





029

U.S. Army Electronics Research and Development Command Harry Diamond Laboratories Adelphi, MD 20783

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

78 09 19

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents. 21.0

Citation of manufacturers' or trade names does not constitute an official indorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

		READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
T. REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO	
HDL-TR-1863		<i>(</i> 9)
TITLE (and Subtitio)		S. THE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERE
A Method for Determining the	Probability	Technical Venart
of Vehicl. Overturn in Nucle	ear Engage-	rechnical kepdre
ments,	and a second second	S. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
AUTHOR(2)		A. CONTRACT OF GRANT NUMBER(A)
John S./Wicklund		
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRES	s	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
Harry Diamond Laboratories	1	
2800 Powder Mill Road	x .	Frogram Lte: 6.5/.08.
Adelphi, MD 20783		L <u></u>
I. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS		12. REPORT DATE
U.S. Army Materiel Developme	nt (11)	SCH CHINNEL 17/8
and Readiness Command Alexandria, VA 22333		29
and		18. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
U.S. Army Training and Doctr	ine Command	Unclassified
Fort Monroe, VA 23651		
		15. DECLASSIFICATION DOWN GRADING SCHEDULE
		l
16. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES		
HDI. Project: 251721		
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000		
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000		
 BUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde 11 necessary elde	and identify by block number)
 BUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary set to the set of the set of	and identify by block number)
 IDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary a Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn 	and identify by block number)
 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde II necessary elde Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn 	and identify by block number)
 10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde il necessary e Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn 	and identify by block number)
 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary a Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and second seco	and identify by block number)
10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 13. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde il necessary e Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn 10. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse elde il necessary of Vehicle overturn	and identify by block number and identify by block number	
 I.E. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 IS. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elds II necessary e Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse elds II necessary m Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by rest 	and identify by block number a significant	factor in a tactical
 I.E. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 IS. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn I.A. ADSTRACT (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calculation 	and identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability
 IDE SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary of Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcular 	and identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcula of overturn to easily calcul permit computation of overtur	nd identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S.
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcular permit computation of overtur tracked vehicles, the Russian	nd identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcular permit computation of overtur tracked vehicles, the Russian	nd identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde if necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restritimes. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calculated permit computation of overture tracked vehicles, the Russian	and identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcular of overturn to easily calcular permit computation of overtur tracked vehicles, the Russian D 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 15 00500	a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic SSIFIED
HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elds II necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn Vehicle overturn Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcul- permit computation of overtur tracked vehicles, the Russian D 1000 1100 0F 1 NOV 65 15 00500	and identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U DUETE 1 SECTIONITY CL	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic SSIFIED ASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (From Data End
 IDE SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES HDL Project: 251721 DRCMS Code: 675708.00.00000 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Tactical nuclear warfare Vehicle overturn ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse elde II necessary of Vehicular overturn can be nuclear battlefield by restr times. A method for calcular of overturn to easily calcular permit computation of overtur tracked vehicles, the Russian XD FORM 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSO 	and identify by block number a significant icting mobilit ting overturn ated blast par rn probability n ZSU, and a U DETE l SECTIONITY CL	factor in a tactical y or firepower at cruci relates the probability ameters. Tables for several U.S. .S. truck with communic SSIFIED SSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date End

1 out

LB

UNCLASSIFIED



•



LINCLASSIFIED. 2 SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)

CONTENTS

			age
1.	INTR		5
2.	SING	LE VEHICLE OVERTURN	6
	2.1	Data Base	6
	2.2	Variations among Vehicles of Same Type	6
	2.3	Distribution Function	7
	2.4	Selection of Blast Parameter	8
		2.4.1 Critical Value	8
		2.4.2 Effects of Orientation	9
		2.4.3 Blast Parameter	10
		2.4.4 Vehicular Asymmetries	16
з.	ARRA	S OF VEHICLES	22
	3.1	Randomly Aligned Clusters of Vehicles	22
	3.2	Aligned Clusters of Vehicles	24
		3.2.1 Aggregated Assessment	24
		3.2.2 Highly Ordered Arrays of Vehicles	25
	3.3	Terrain Irregularities	25
	LITE	RATURE CITED	26
	DIST	RIBUTION	27

FIGURES

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• •	
2,3 Survival probabilities for M113A1		16,17
4,5 Survival probabilities for M548		17,18
6 Survival probabilities for M163 VADS		18
7 Survival probabilities for M125A1	• •	19
8 Survival probabilities for M106A1	•••	19
9 Survival probabilities for ZSU		20
10 Survival probabilities for M752		20
ll Survival probabilities for M688El		21
12 Survival probabilities for M35A2/S280		21
13 Schematic cluster of vehicles	• •	23
RF: Classified references Rept. Net.		
for unlimited distribution per Mr.	t	\neg

Wicklund, Jot

ł

Balef-1-1-1 (1+1) = .

.....

TABLES

1

4

. .

Page

1. INTRODUCTION

The importance of the overturn of vehicles on a tactical battlefield is often underestimated by analysts. Experience gained in conventional wars and maneuvers indicates that overturn rarely results from enemy action; the more usual contributing factors are terrain and driver error. Moreover, overturn has most often occurred with lighter vehicles like jeeps, which are easily righted by a small crew of men. The rare overturned heavy vehicle requires a crane, but one is usually available, and the vehicle can be righted in less than an hour. Cargo is usually salvageable; even electronic equipment mounted in racks in truckborne communications shelters has survived tests in which the trucks were manually tipped over. Conceivably, a radio attached to a jeep might be broken, but the impact of overturn on command, control, and communications seems minimal.

This underestimation has carried into nuclear warfare. One well-known guide¹ categorizes overturn as the first stage of "moderate" damage, which is just a little more serious than "slight" damage. Taken by itself, "moderate" is a just evaluation. As a consequence, most planners do not consider a vehicle killed until "severe" damage--such as breaking of a drive train--is sustained.

Such a view ignores the realities of a battlefield situation. A local commander might be able to cope with the inconvenience of one overturned Mll3 personnel carrier, but the situation is acute if five out of six of his Mll3's are upside down. Presumably, the nuclear weapon has been dropped as an opening round for offensive action: enemy armored and mechanized infantry units can be expected on the scene shortly. The local commander can neither maneuver nor withdraw in good order. Such damage *cannot* be considered moderate (except, possibly, by the enemy, who can easily salvage the overturned vehicles once the situation has restabilized).

Vehicle overturn must be taken in a tactical context if detailed war-gaming is to be done. Otherwise, defenders will overestimate their combat readiness, and attackers will use larger weapon yields than necessary. An accurate method is needed to calculate the most probable number of vehicles remaining upright after a nuclear burst. This report describes one such method. It is essentially the same as that given in another paper,² but that reference did not indicate the origins.

¹Capabilities of Nuclear Weapons (U), Defense Nuclear Agency DNA EM-1 (July 1972). (SECRET RESTRICTED DATA)

²Louis J. Belliveau, Analytical Assessment of Damage to Vehicles by Air Blast from Nuclear Weapons--Methodology (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1838 (December 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL NO FOREIGN DISSEMINATION)

2. SINGLE VEHICLE OVERTURN

Although the approach is statistical, we start with a single vehicle. Four elements are needed to model overturn: (1) a data base that tabulates the blast parameters involved in overturn, (2) a monotonically changing quantity that describes the variations among vehicles of the same type, and (3) a distribution function that describes these variations in terms of (4) an appropriately chosen blast parameter. Each element is treated separately in this section.

2.1 Data Base

There are no field test data from which an adequate modeling of overturn can be constructed. Many vehicles have never been exposed to a large-yield airburst--nuclear or otherwise. Even for those vehicles for which there is a wide body of data--for example, jeeps--the information is not of the type from which a good distributional model can be constructed. Data, then, must be generated by a good aerodynamic computer code verified, where possible, with field test data.

Such a computer program exists,³ It has been used to predict the overturn of both wheeled and tracked vehicles. The modeling has been partly verified by results from Dice Throw, a high-yield conventional explosive test. Briefly, the program determines the values of the blast parameters at the maximum ground ranges at which overturn occurs. The values are determined for a variety of yields exploded at altitudes of 60 W^{1/3} m, where W is the yield in kilotons. (Surface bursts also can be treated, but their effects on vehicles differ little from aerial bursts, and we do not concern ourselves with them in this report.) The values of the blast garameters so determined form the data base from whence the distributions are derived (sect. 2.4).

2.2 Variations among Vehicles of Same Type

The basis for any analysis is to exploit the variations among vehicles of the same type. Physical differences exist due to differences in loading and age, but these differences are minute. What is needed is a first-order effect that distinguishes among vehicles of the same type.

The most obvious difference in a battlefield situation is in the relative orientation of the vehicle and the actual ground zero (AGZ) of the weapon. It is easier to turn a vehicle over from the side than

 $^{^{3}}N$. P. Hobbs et al, TRUCK--A Digital Computer Program for Calculating the Response of Army Vehicles to Blast Waves, Kaman AviDyne KA TR-136 (March 1977).

from the end. Since there is no way to predict the relative orientation between a burst and a given vehicle, the orientation is a random quantity that can be used to distinguish among vehicles of the same type in a given area.

2.3 Distribution Function

Deferring the problem of relating blast parameters and vehicle orientation until section 2.4, we turn our attention to the type of distribution function that should be used. A normal distribution cannot be right, since all blast parameters are positive at overturn. The skew distribution most closely related to the normal function (and most often used in damage calculation) is the lognormal--that is, a distribution that becomes normal if the logarithm of the parameter is used. More precisely, if

$$\Phi(u) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{u} e^{-u^2/2} du,$$

then the cumulative normal function is given by

$$P\{x\} = \phi(u)$$

with

$$\mathbf{u} = \frac{\mathbf{x} - \mu}{\sigma}, \quad -\infty < \mathbf{x} < \infty$$

Here, μ is the mean and σ is the standard deviation. Similarly, the cumulative lognormal function uses

$$u = \frac{\ln x - \ln \xi}{\sigma}, \quad 0 < x < \infty.$$

Here, ξ is the mode and $\mu = \ln \xi$ is the mean.

Finding no good theoretical reason why the lognormal should be used to describe overturn, we must resort to a heuristic argument. Damage is generally well described by a lognormal function if the proper parameter is used. For example, the ill effects of radiation dose on biological specimens can be excellently described by a lognormal function of dose.⁴ Also, neutron damage in semiconductors can be described by a lognormal function of fluence, and there appears to be a solid theoretical basis for it.⁵ A whole theory of breakage is based on the lognormal distribution.⁶ These facts are sufficiently provocative for us to tentatively assume a lognormal distribution and to look for an overturn parameter to fit it.

2.4 Selection of Blast Parameter

The problem resolves, then, into finding a proper blast parameter and somehow using it in a lognormal equation to get a good description of data that relate overturn to the relative vehicle-burst orientation. Sections 2.4.1 to 2.4.4 walk the reader through the step-by-step process by which these goals can be achieved.

2.4.1 Critical Value

It is evident that overturn is a discontinuous process in orientation. No matter what parameter is chosen, there is a value below which the vehicle will not be overturned. At some critical value, the vehicle will just barely be overturned in ics most sensitive orientation (usually, within a few degrees of broadside). Designating the parameter by Q and the critical value by k, the argument of the lognormal must then be Q - k.

There is an upper limit for overturn sensitivity as well. Beyond some value of Q, the vehicle will be overturned regardless of orientation. In practice, this is an unrealistic limit because the ranges become so small that other effects dominate, such as the crushing of the cab of a wheeled vehicle. The upper limit of the distribution, then, is conveniently taken as infinity, since the small error in probability of overturn thus introduced is masked by other, more serious, damage.

⁴Addendum to Personnel Risk and Casualty Criteria for Nuclear Weapons Effects, U.S. Army Nuclear Agency ACN 22744 (Narch 1976).

 $^{{}^{5}}K$. N. Stevens, Neutron Failure Fluence Distribution for Semiconductor Devices, IEEE Annual Conference on Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects, Seattle, WA (July 1972).

⁶J. Aitchison and J. Brown, The Lognormal Distribution, Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom (1957), 26-27.

The quantity Q = k looks innocuous, but it carries serious connotations. By implication, k is independent of yield. This independence certainly seems necessary. If we are to have a parameter or a combination of parameters that describes overturn, it must have its origins in the environment, not in the source of the environment. Further consideration reveals that the effect must be independent of yield regardless of the orientation--that is, that $Q - k = f(\theta)$ at the maximum range at which the vehicle with orientation θ relative to the burst point is overturned. Here, $f(\theta)$ is a function of the orientation only.

We measure θ from the most sensitive orientation. Thus, the zero of θ is at a vector, <u>s</u>, which is parallel to the earth and points from the center of gravity of the vehicle toward the most sensitive direction--that is, in the direction where Q = k is just sufficient to overturn the vehicle. This geometry is shown in figure 1.



Figure 1. Angular relationships for vehicle overturn.

2.4.2 Effects of Orientation

The concepts of section 2.2 need quantification. Since we cannot predict AGZ, the orientation of vehicles relative to AGZ provides a good way of calculating the probability of overturn. As a simplification, which will be removed later, consider a vehicle to have twofold symmetry--that is, there is not a great difference between the front and the rear of the vehicle. Then the 90-deg angle between side on and end on is all that is necessary to describe all possible orientations.

Measuring the angle as defined in section 2.4.1, let θ increase toward the front of the vehicle. If θ is in degress, then the quantity $P_{\theta} = \theta/90$ is the probability that the vehicle is oriented between 0 deg and θ . Thus, for angle θ , we determine the minimum value

of Q - k for which overturn occurs and assign the probability P_{θ} to the cumulative lognormal function for that value of Q - k. With several such pairs of values, a least squares fit to a cumulative lognormal function can be performed. For greatest sensitivity, this fit should span the range of values where the cumulative lognormal varies most--that is, in the linear region around the mean. This mean (where $P_{\theta} = 0.5$) is at the $\theta = 45$ -deg orientation that many references call "random."

Unfortunately, few vehicles have front and rear symmetry. However, all that we have studied so far exhibit bilateral symmetry. We therefore define θ^+ and θ^- as in figure 1, with the positive sign measuring θ from <u>s</u> forward and the negative sign measuring θ from <u>s</u> rearward. If β is the angle that <u>s</u> makes with the broadside direction,

$$P_{\theta}^{-} = \frac{\theta^{-}}{90 + \beta}$$
 and $P_{\theta}^{+} = \frac{\theta^{+}}{90 - \beta}$.

These corrections are often nontrivial. We can then determine two lognormal distributions--one forward and one rearward. For simple treatments, the means and the sigmas can be averaged and the 90-deg model can be used. We will see that this is a reasonable approximation for most vehicles. However, not much effort is involved to include both directions in a computer program.

2.4.3 Blast Parameter

Aerodynamic computer runs can be made for a variety of angles and yields. For each angle and yield, there is a ground range at which the vehicle is just barely overturned. The common blast parameters (peak static and peak dynamic overpressures and their corresponding impulses) can be computed at these ranges.⁷ If they are computed, it becomes apparent that these quantities depend on yield for a given angle. At the suggestion of L. J. Belliveau of the Harry Diamond Laboratories, the product of the peak overpressure, Δp , and the dynamic impulse, I, was investigated. For yields above about 10 kT, we found that ΔpI_q hardly depends on yield at overturn ranges for all vehicle types investigated so far. Accordingly, $\Delta pI_q - k$ became a candidate for the desired parameter.

⁷William E. Sweeney, Jr., Cyrus G. Moazed, and John S. Wicklund, Nuclear Weapons Environments for Vulnerability Assessments to Support Tactical Nuclear Warfare Studies (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TM-77-4 (June 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL)

Two corroborative threads also support the use of $\Delta pI - k$. Sweeney et al⁷ give formulas for both Δp and I. When we combine them, we obtain

$$\Delta \mathbf{pI}_{q} = \mathbf{AW}^{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{r}^{\mathbf{C}} , \qquad (1)$$

with A = 1.587 \times 10⁻², B = 1.711, and C = -4.133. The range, r, is in kilometers and the yield, W, is in kilotons. At the critical range, r (the maximum range at which overturn occurs), $\Delta pI_{c} = k$. Then

$$\mathbf{r}_{c} = \left(\frac{0.0159}{k}\right)^{0.242} W^{0.414} .$$
 (2)

Equation (2) is of interest because a large number of range-yield data plots from the 1880's to the present time indicate that blast damage goes approximately as the 0.4 power of the yield. In fact, DNA EM-1 gives ¹ the same exponent as equation (2), namely, 0.414.

Equation (2) is a simplification of a more general form. If we let $x = \ln (\Delta pI_q - k) - \ln \xi$, we find $\Delta pI_q = k + \xi e^x$, from which

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{x}} = \left(\frac{C.0159}{\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{x}}}\right)^{0.242} \mathbf{w}^{0.414} .$$
(3)

Equation (3) elaborates upon the assumptions. As θ varies from 0 deg to end on, x varies from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$. The errors at the high end discussed in section 2.4.1 are then seen to be relatively minor, since the exponential soon dominates. Also of interest in equation (3) is the value at x = 0, corresponding to 45 deg. Though frequently used to describe a "random" orientation, the value at x = 0 can lead to gross errors in calculating range.

The second corroborative thread for the use of ΔpI_q - k as the overturn parameter is its excellent fit to a lognormal distribution for a wide variety of vehicles. This fit is demonstrated in the sequence of tables I to III. Table I lists computer results for a variety of vehicles. The angle refers to a line drawn through the center of gravity and normal to the side of the vehicle (broadside).

¹Capabilities of Nuclear Weapons (U), Defense Nuclear Agency DNA EM-1 (July 1972). (SECRET RESTRICTED DATA)

⁷William E. Sweeney. Jr., Cyrus G. Moazed, and John S. Wicklund, Nuclear Weapons Environments for Vulnerability Assessments to Support Tactical Nuclear Warfare Studies (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TM-77-4 (June 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL)

The values in the table are the average values of ΔpI_q at which the vehicles are overturned at the indicated angles. These averages result from computer runs at yields of 10, 40, and 100 kT: ΔpI_q at overturn is relatively independent of yield.

	T				Angle (de	g)			
Vehicle	-60	-45	- 30	-15	0	15	30	45	60
MII3Al (full)	21.52	13.64	11.09	9.74	8.88	9.82	10.79	14.14	23.56
Mll3Al (empty)	16.13	10.87	8.20	7.36	6.84	7.25	8.25	10.80	17.10
M548 (full)	31.03	18.65	14.95	12.87	11.86	11.87	12.95	15.01	18.01
M548 (empty)	7.22	5.76	5.28	4.80	4.77	5.11	5.84	7.60	13.20
M163 VADS	19.47	12.55	9.89	8.78	8.36	8.68	9.96	12.78	20.47
M125A1	22.56	14.83	11.43	10.05	9.16	10.08	11.36	14.99	23.63
M106A1	25.37	16.40	12.91	11.49	10.54	11.32	12.90	17.02	26.61
ZSU	51.39	32.81	25.65	23.32	22.86	22.94	24.76	31.30	50.43
M752	8.89	5.60	4.23	3.84	3.60	3.71	4.03	5.16	8.01
M688E1	10.43	6.34	4.97	4.52	4.34	4.29	4.79	6.13	9.33
M35A2/S280	0.977	0.612	0.513	0.478	0.481	0.517	0.545	0.715	1.129

TABLE I. VALUES OF ΔpI_{q} FOR OVERTURN AT VARIOUS ANGLES

Note: Angle of 0 deg is exact broadside. Negative and positive angles denote rear and forward quadrants, respectively.

Table II was derived from table I. A spline fit was applied to determine the angle β ; k is the value of the smoothed function at that point, not very different from the O-deg value in table I. The means and the sigmas of the rearward and forward cumulative lognormal functions are indicated in table II by the negative and positive signs, respectively. These were determined by least squares fits to the appropriate data. The last two columns in table II are average means and sigmas that represent least squares cumulative lognormal fits to all the data.

Vabiala	e (dag)		Beer	Lognor	nal distri	bution	value	
venicie	p (deg)	к	μ ⁻	o"	μ+	σ +	Avera T	σ
MII3AI (full)	-0.8	8.88	1.69	1.89	1.70	2.06	1.69	1.98
Mll3Al (empty)	+1.3	6.83	1.29	2.15	1.40	2.24	1.34	2.20
M548 (full)	+7.6	11.74	1.79	2.27	1.31	2.39	1.60	2.55
M548 (empty)	-7.2	4.72	0.325	2.08	0.870	2.47	0.667	2.41
M163 VADS	+2.3	8.35	1.35	2.38	1.56	2.40	1.46	2.39
M125A1	-0.2	9.16	1.74	1.95	1.76	2.01	1.75	1.98
M106A1	+0.7	10.54	1.78	2.00	1.86	2.15	1.82	2.08
ZSU	+7.9	22.78	1.85	3.25	2.42	3.05	2.12	3.06
M752	+2.0	3.59	0.598	2.32	0.458	2.52	0.532	2.47
M688E1	+10.9	4.26	0.360	2.71	1.02	2.88	0.646	2.73
M35A2/S280	-8.5	0.474	-1.60	2.69	-1.70	2.40	-1.66	2.60

TABLE 11. SUMMARY OF CONSTANTS FOR VARIOUS VEHICLES

Note: β is the angle of the minimum as measured from broadside. Negative values are rearward; positive are forward. k is the critical value; μ is the mean; σ is the standard deviation.

Table III shows the goodness of fit by comparing the observed values with those calculated from the lognormal distributions. The P_i are the various values of P_{θ} and the P_i^+ are the various values of P_{θ}^+ . The calculated values are obtained from the cumulative lognormal functions using μ , σ , and μ^+ , σ^+ . Calculations were made also by using $\overline{\mu}$ and $\overline{\sigma}$; values in parentheses are those that differed from the ones obtained through μ , σ , or μ^+ , σ^+ .

The errors in table III are quite small. A reader unfamiliar with probability calculations might be helped by the following example. One of the largest differences occurs in the forward direction for the M688E1, with an observed value of 0.43 and a calculated value of 0.50 when $\bar{\mu}$ and $\bar{\sigma}$ are used (P₃⁺ in table III). Assume that we have a coin weighted so that there is a probability of 0.43 of the head showing when the coin is tossed. (A fair coin exhibits a probability of 0.50.) Then detecting the weighted coin with a confidence of 95 percent would

TABLE III. GOODNESS OF FIT USING Δ PI $_q$ as overturn parameter

					Overturn p	robability			
Vehicle	Method	۰ ۳ -2	'a ^{~~}	۰	' ∝ ¯'	+ <u>a</u>	+ _^'	* ~ ^	+: •_
M113A1 (full)	Observed Calculated	0.66 0.67 (0.66)	0-49 0.47	0.32 0.32	0.16 0.17 (0.18)	0.17 0.20 (0.19)	0.34	0.50 0.49	0.67 0.68 (0.69)
MII3Al (empty)	Observed	0.67	0.51	0.34	0.18	0.15	0.32	0.49	0.66
	Calculated	0.67 (0.66)	0.52 (0.51)	0.32	0.18	0.16	0.32	0.50 (0.51)	0.66 (0.67)
M548 (full)	Observed	0.69	0.54	0.38	0.23	0.09	0.27	0.45	0.64
	Calculated	0.70	0.53 (0.55)	0.39 (0.43)	0.23 (0.28)	0.08	0.32 (0.29)	0.48 (0.44)	0.59 (0.54)
M548 (empty)	Observed	0.64	0.46	0.28	0.09	0.23	0.38	0.54	0.65
	Calculated	0.61 (0.54)	0.44 (0.40)	0.33 (0.30)	0.08 (0.09)	0.23 (0.25)	0.38 (0.41)	0.53 (0.56)	0.70 (0.73)
MI63 VADS	Observed	0.68	0.51	0.35 (0.34)	0.19	0.14	0.32	0.49	0.66
	Calculated	0.67 (0.66)	0.52 (0.50)	0.35 (0.34)	0.19 (0.18)	0.14 (0.15)	0.33 (0.34)	0.49 (0.51)	0.65 (0.67)
MI25AI	Observed	0.67 (0.66)	0.50	0.33	0,16	0.17	0.34	0.50	0.67
	Calculated	0.67 (0.66)	0.50	0.32	0.17	0.18	0.31	0.50	J.68
H106A1	Observed	0.67	0.50	0.34	0.17	0.16	0.33	0.50	0.66
	Calculated	0.68 (0.66)	0.50 (0.49)	0.32	0.18	0.16	0.32	0.50 (0.51)	0.66 (0.68)
ZSU	Observed	0.69	0.54	0.39	0.23	0.09	0.27	0.45	0.64
	Calculated	0.68 (0.66)	0.56 (0.52)	0.40 (0.36)	0.22 (0.19)	0.08 (0.10)	0.28 (0.32)	0.46 (0.50)	0.62 (0.65)
M752	Observed	0.67	0.51	0.35	0.18	0.15	0.32	0.49	0.66
	Calculated	0.68	0.52 (0.53)	0.32 (0.34)	0.20 (0.22)	0.15 (0.14)	0.30 (0.29)	0.50 (0.49)	0.66 (0.65)
M688E1	Observed	0.70	0.55	0.40	0.26	0.05	0.24	0.43	0.62
	Calculated	0.70 (0.67)	0.55 (0.51)	0.40 (0.36)	0.25 (0.23)	0.05	0.28 (0.32)	0.44 (0.50)	0.58 (0.64)
M35A2/5280	Observed	0.63	0.45	0.26	0.08	0.24	0.39	0.54	0.70
	Calculated	0.63 (0.65)	0.44 (0.45)	0.27	0.08	0.27 (C.28)	0.34 (0.35)	0.54	0.70 (0.68)

More: Parentheses denote all values calculated by using \overline{v} and $\overline{\sigma}$ that differ from those valculated by using the more precise parameters.

require 780 tosses; for a confidence of 99 percent, 1350 tosses would be required. Thus, even the largest differences are not particularly bad. Other functional forms like $\Delta p^{a} I_{q}^{b}$ (a and b are constants) have been tried without nearly so good results.

Various vehicles have been treated. Table I lists mostly tracked vehicles. Wheeled vehicles have been treated somewhat differently by Belliveau.² The M35A2 with the S280 shelter is included in table I because the results differ significantly from those reported by Belliveau,² which uses a simple, one-degree-of-freedom computer program. FRUCK seems better because it has been partially verified in high-yield conventional tests. Also of interest is the Russian ZSU: it appears to fit the scheme as well as U.S. vehicles. The ZSU was modeled by using the data⁸ in Jane's Weapon Systems 1977.

The entries in table II permit intercomparison of relative vulnerabilities of vehicles. The larger the value of k is, the more difficult it is to overturn the vehicle. With one exception, high k correlates with high $\bar{\mu}$. This correlation is to be expected, for if it is difficult to overturn a vehicle from the side, it should be proportionately more difficult to overturn it from any other angle. The one exception seems to be the M548 (full), but closer examination shows that this exception is possibly due to the large asymmetry. The value of $\bar{\sigma}$ is one of the largest, indicating that the distribution is not sharply peaked.

The quantity ΔpI_q necessary to just overturn tracked vehicles depends on yield for yields less than 10 kT and increases sharply as the yield decreases, as seems intuitively correct. Below some yield, the blast duration is so short that inertia keeps the vehicle from overturning. Wheeled vehicles are more easily overturned, as can be seen by the k values by Belliveau.² Accordingly, yield independence is observed down to about 1 kT.

²Louis J. Belliveau, Analytical Assessment of Damage to Vehicles by Air Blast from Nuclear Weapons--Methodology (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1338 (December 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL NO FOREIGN DISSEMINATION)

^{&#}x27;N. P. Hobbs et al, TRUCK--A Digital Computer Program for Calculating the Response of Army Vehicles to Blast Waves, Kaman AviDyne KA TR-136 (March 1977).

⁸R. T. Pretty, ed., Jane's Weapon Systems 1977, Jane's Yearbooks. (1977), 92-93.

2.4.4 Vehicular Asymmetries

Figures 2 to 12 show that no vehicle is perfectly symmetric. Conversion from ΔpI -space to distance was done by using the formulas by Sweeney et al.⁷ A ^qvalue of range was taken and the value of $\Delta pI_q - k$ was calculated for each yield. This value of $\Delta pI_q - k$ was made the argument in the cumulative lognormal function and the probability was calculated. The curves terminate abruptly at the range given by equation (2); beyond this point, the vehicle is not overturned, regardless of orientation.



Figure 2. Survival probabilities for Ml13Al (full).

The asymmetries do not change the survival probabilities, with a few exceptions. Of interest is the large change in "polarity" of the M548 occasioned by the shift of the center of gravity between the loaded and empty states. Figure 12 has a different scale from the others, illustrating the greater vulnerability of a wheeled vehicle to overturn, expecially if it is equipped with the large "sail" area of an S280 communications shelter.

⁷William E. Sweeney, Jr., Cyrus G. Moazed, and John S. Wicklund, Nuclear Weapons Environments for Vulnerability Assessments to Support Tactical Nuclear Warfare Studies (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TM-77-4 (June 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL)









Figure 5. Survival probabilities for M548 (empty).



Figure 6. Survival probabilities for M163 VADS.



•



19

ì



Figure 9. Survival probabilities for ZSU.



Figure 10. Survival probabilities for M752.





Figure 12. Survival probabilities for M35A2/S280.

21

3. ARRAYS OF VEHICLES

Except for those which load or transport nuclear weapons, single vehicles are not significant targets in nuclear warfare. Clusters of vehicles attached to military units are frequently bonus targets. For example, a nuclear-capable howitzer battery may be a prime target, and overturn of its M13A1 cargo carriers might well cripple the unit even if the actual ground zero is too removed to damage the artillery pieces. Other vehicle clusters, such as armored or mechanized infantry units massed for assault or on line for defense, would surely be targets of opportunity or intent.

In principle, perhaps, vehicles on a battlefield should be randomly arrayed, but they rarely are. Armor organizes along a line. All pieces in an artillery battery usually point in the same direction, so the cargo carriers that supply their ammunition are drawn up for the most convenient loading. Vehicles in a staging area are parked so that they can be moved out rapidly. Road marches are highly orientated linear arrays. In short, there are few opportunities for randomly aligning vehicles on the battlefield. Still, for completeness, we treat both random and ordered alignments. It is assumed throughout this paper that the vehicles are dispersed widely enough for the effects to be independent and that they are on smooth terrain.

3.1 Randomly Aligned Clusters of Vehicles

The method of treating randomly aligned clusters of vehicles is the same as that described by Spyropoulos and Wicklund.⁹ It is assumed that the positions of the vehicles are known, but their individual orientations relative to the burst are completely unknown. This is not as paradoxical as it seems at first. A unit occupies a more or less standard area and the mission of the unit calls for the vehicles to be located at certain places within that area. Orientation is a matter of convenience or is deliberately randomized, so it cannot be as well known as the most probable location.

The situation is shown schematically in figure 13, except that the orientations of the vehicles are completely unknown. A point, VC, is taken near the center of the array and a convenient reference line is drawn. Another line from VC is drawn at some angle, α . Let a nuclear weapon of a given yield be detonated at a point along this line. With

⁹Chris E. Spyropoulos and John S. Wicklund, A Method for Assessing the Vulnerability of Small Units in Tactical Nuclear Engagements (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1851 (June 1978). (CONFIDENTIAL)

the formulas of Sweeney et al' and the tabulated k value, the overturn parameter $ApI_q = k$ can be calculated. By using $\bar{\mu} \in A$, the probability of survival of each vehicle can be calculated, as the average survival probability of the array can be obtained from

$$P = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} P_{i} , \qquad (4)$$

where N is the number of vehicles and the $P_{\underline{i}}$ are the individual survival probabilities.



Figure 13. Schematic cluster of vehicles.

Angle α is then changed and the process is repeated until the array has been surrounded. We have found that azimuthal variations can be made negligible by properly locating VC. This relocation can be done iteratively. The critical point is called the "vulnerability center." A practical limit is reached when the major dimension of the array approaches the extent of the effect for that yield: for 1 kT, the major dimension should not exceed about 0.3 km. For each yield, various burst points along the line from VC are taken so that about 10 ranges with 0.1 $\leq P \leq 0.9$ are obtained.

⁷William E. Sweeney, Jr., Cyrus G. Moazed, and John S. Wicklund, Nuclear Weapons Environments for Vulnerability Assessments to Support Tactical Nuclear Warfare Studies (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TM-77-4 (June 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL)

The entire procedure is repeated with different yields. Although the ranges must be changed, the values of ΔpI at VC are virtually the same for equal survival probabilities. ^q The only differences due to yield are in the magnitude of the (negligible) azimuthal variations: the larger the yield, the greater the range, the better the point approximation, and the more negligible the variations.

This method thus reduces the array to a point target with a variation in survival probability as a function of ApI_q at the vulnerability center. It has proved possible to describe random arrays of vehicles similarly to describing individual vehicles, namely, in terms of $ApI_q - k$. A value for k is obtained by finding the range where P in equation (4) becomes just less than 1.00 and then computing ApI_q at VC. Again, excellent fits to cumulative lognormals are obtained. Treatments of some vehicular arrays are detailed by Spyropoulos and Wicklund. Clusters of different vehicle types inside a military unit position should each be treated separately.

It is important to see the essential difference between the single vehicle and the random array. The form $\Delta pI_q - k$ is the same, but the distribution for single vehicles exploits the azimuthal asymmetry, which is explicitly eliminated for the random array. (It may be possible to take the geometric center of the array and to use the asymmetry in the same way as for individual vehicles.)

3.2 Aligned Clusters of Vehicles

The term "aligned" is used here to denote that the orientation of each vehicle is known, even though these orientations might be random. More exact estimates can be made for aligned clusters (sect. 3.2.1) and for highly ordered arrays of vehicles, such as found in road marches (sect. 3.2.2).

3.2.1 Aggregated Assessment

Since the orientation of the vehicle is known, a different assessment method is possible. Given the point of detonation, the angle between AGZ and the vector, \underline{s} , is known. The distribution function for the vehicle in question can then be solved backwards to get the value of ΔpI_q necessary to overturn the vehicle at that angle. If this value is less than ΔpI_q computed from equation (1), the vehicle is overturned. Thus, an actual vehicle count can be obtained.

If the array is not highly ordered or, if ordered, is sufficiently small, a vulnerability center can be obtained by a method similar to that in section 3.1, but by using the actual fraction of

⁹Chris E. Spyropoulos and John S. Wicklund, A Method for Assessing the Vulnerability of Small Units in Tactical Nuclear Engagements (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1851 (June 1978). (CONFIDENTIAL) vehicles overturned. For several vehicles, at least, this method intuitively seems more accurate. (I am currently comparing the two methods.)

3.2.2 Highly Ordered Arrays of Vehicles

It is patently wrong to treat a highly ordered array of vehicles such as a road march by defining a vulnerability center: the unit is simply too strung out and too directional. Spyropoulos and Wicklund⁹ show that a road march can be conveniently represented by three vulnerability centers for nondirectional effects like radiation dose to personnel, but such a representation is clearly incorrect for vehicle overturn. (I am studying the possibility that a highly ordered array of vehicles can itself be treated in the same way as a single vehicle.)

3.3 Terrain Irregularities

This analysis is "table top" in the sense that terrain irregularities have not been considered. Such features can modify the shock wave and tilt the vehicles off the dead level that was assumed for this study. Shock-wave modification might be handled by a trick like defining an azimuthally dependent effective yield. Initial tilt of the vehicles, however, introduces a complication that cannot be treated in the simple way discussed in this paper.

⁹Chris E. Spyropoulos and John S. Wicklund, A Method for Assessing the Vulnerability of Small Units in Tactical Nuclear Engagements (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1851 (June 1978). (CONFIDENTIAL)

LITERATURE CITED

- (1) Capabilities of Nuclear Weapons (U), Defense Nuclear Agency DNA EM-1 (July 1972). (SECRET RESTRICTED DATA)
- (2) Louis J. Belliveau, Analytical Assessment of Damage to Vehicles by Air Blast from Nuclear Weapons--Methodology (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1838 (December 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL NO FOREIGN DISSEMINATION)
- (3) N. P. Hobbs et al, TRUCK--A Digital Computer Program for Calculating the Response of Army Vehicles to Blast Waves, Kaman AviDyne KA TR-136 (March 1977).
- (4) Addendum to Personnel Risk and Casualty Criteria for Nuclear Weapons Effects, U.S. Army Nuclear Agency ACN 22744 (March 1976).
- (5) K. N. Stevens, Neutron Failure Fluence Distribution for Semiconductor Devices, IEEE Annual Conference on Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects, Seattle, WA (July 1972).
- (6) J. Aitchison and J. Brown, The Lognormal Distribution, Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom (1957), 26-27.
- (7) William E. Sweeney, Jr., Cyrus G. Moazed, and John S. Wicklund, Nuclear Weapons Environments for Vulnerability Assessments to Support Tactical Nuclear Warfare Studies (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TM-77-4 (June 1977). (CONFIDENTIAL)
- (8) R. T. Pretty, ed., Jane's Weapon Systems 1977, Jane's Yearbooks (1977), 92-93.
- (9) Chris E. Spyropoulos and John S. Wicklund, A Method for Assessing the Vulnerability of Small Units in Tactical Nuclear Engagements (U), Harry Diamond Laboratories TR-1851 (June 1978). (CONFIDENTIAL)

DISTRIBUTION

ADMINISTRATOR DEFENSE DOCUMENTATION CENTER ATTN DDC-TCA (12 COPIES) CAMERON STATION, BUILDING 5 ALEXANDRIA, VA 22314

COMMANDER US ARMY RSCH & STD GP (EUR) ATTN LTC JAMES M. KENNEDY, JR. CHIEF, PHYSICS & MATH BRANCH FPO NEW YORK 09510

COMMANDER US ARMY MATERIEL DEVELOPMENT & READINESS COMMAND ATTN DRXAM-TL, HQ TECH LIBRARY ATTN DRCPA, DIR FOR PLANS & ANALYSIS ATTN DRCBSI, DIR FOR BATTLEFIELD SYS INTEGRATION 5001 EISENHCWER AVENUE ALEXANDRIA, VA 22333

COMMANDER US ARMY MISSILE & MUNITIONS CENTER & SCHOOL ATTN ATSK-CTD-F REDSTONE ARSENAL, AL 35809

DIRECTOR US ARMY MATERIEL SYSTEMS ANALYSIS ACTIVITY ATTN DRXSY-MP ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21005

DIRECTOR US ARMY BALLISTIC RESEARCH LABORATORY ATTN DRDAR-TSB-S (STINFO) ATTN DRDAR-BLV, MR. RIGOTTI ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MC 21005

DIRECTOR TRASANA ATTN ATAA-D, DR. PAYNE ATTN ATAA-TDC, LTC HESSE WHITE SANDS MISSILE RANGE, NM 88002

COMMANDER HSC ATTN HSA-CDB, CPT DONOVAN FT. SAM HOUSTON, TX 78234

COMMANDER USA ADMINC ATTN ATZI-CD-SD, MAJ ZEEDYK FT. BENJAMIN HARRISON, IN 46216

COMMANDER USA LOGC ATTN ATCL-SCA, MR. HURFORD FT. LEE, VA 23801

١

DIRECTOR USA NVL ATTN DRSEL-NV-VI, MR. LINZ FT. BELVOIR, VA 22060

COMMANDER USA MERADCOM ATTN DRDME-RT, DR. OREAR FT. BELVOIR, VA 22060

COMMANDER USA OCCS ATTN ATSL-CLC-C, LT TATE ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21005

DIRECTOR EW LAB ATTN DELEW-V FT. MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

COMMANDER USA ITAD ATTN IAX-AOT, MAJ GODBOLDTE ARLINGTON HALL STA, VA 22212

UNDERSECRETARY OF THE ARMY HQ DA ATTN DR. LA BERGE WASHINGTON, DC 20310

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE ATTN DUSD (RNE), MR. MCKINLEY ATTN ATSD (AE), COL WARGOWSKY WASHINGTON, DC 20301

HQ DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY ATTN SAUS-OR, MR. LESTER ATTN DALO-SMZ, BG NORD ATTN DAMI-ZB, BG SMITH ATTN DAPE-HRE, COL LOWERY WASHINGTON, DC 20310

COMMANDER USA FORSCOM ATTN AFOP-DA, LTC WETZEL FORT MCPHERSON, GA 30330

DIRECTOR DEFENSE ADVANCED RESEARCH PROJECTS AGENCY ATTN DIR, TACTICAL TECHNOLOGY OFFICE ARCHITEUT BLDG 1400 WILSON BLVD ARLINGTON, VA 22209

DIRECTOR DEFENSE INTELLIGENCE AGENCY ATTN DT-1, NUCLEAR & APPLIED SCIENCES DIV WASHINGTON, DC 20301

and a Babbi share construct Manual Maria she at an

DISTRIBUTION (Cont'd)

DIRECTOR DEFENSE NUCLEAR AGENCY ATTN PETER HAAS, DEP DIR, SCIENTIFIC TECHNOLOGY ATTN RATN, TACTICAL NUCLEAR DIV ATTN STSS, COL COOK WASHINGTON, DC 20305

DIRECTOR OF DEFENSE RESEARCH & ENGINEERING ATTN DEP DIR (TACTICAL WARFARE PROGRAMS) ATTN LAND WARFARE WASHINGTON, DC 20301

ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF THE ARMY (RES, DEV, & ACQ) WASHINGTON, DC 20310

OFFICE, DEPUTY CHIEF OF STAFF FOR OPERATIONS & PLANS DEPT OF THE ARMY ATTN DAMO-SSN, NUCLEAR PLANS & POLICY DIV, BG V. FALTER ATTN DAMO-RQA, FIELD ARTILLERY ATTN DAMO-SSN, MAJ P. THOMAS ATTN DAMO-CSZ-B, BG MALONEY WASHINGTON, DC 20310

OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF OF STAFF FOR RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT & ACQUISTION DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY ATTN DAMA-ARZ-D, RESEARCH PROGRAMS ATTN DAMA-CSM-N, NUCLEAR TEAM WASHINGTON, DC 20310

COMMANDER US ARMY ARMAMENT RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT COMMAND ATTN DRDAR-LCN, NUCLEAR APPLICATIONS DIV, MR. REINER DOVER, NJ 07801

DIRECTOR BALLISTIC MISSILE DEFENSE PROGRAM OFFICE 1300 WILSON BLVD ARLINGTON, VA 22209

COMMANDER BALLISTIC MISSILE DEFENSE ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY CENTER P.O. BOX 1500 HUNTSVILLE, AL 35807

DIRECTOR US ARMY BALLISTICS RESEARCH LABORATORY ATTN DRDAR-BLV, VULNERABILITY/LETHALITY D1. ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 2100.

US ARMY COMBINED ARMS COMBAT DEVELOPMENTS ACTIVITY ATTN ATCACC, DIR OF COMBAT & COMBAT SUPPORT SYS ATTN ATCACA, DIR OF COMBAT OPERATIONS ANALYSIS ATTN CFC-A, LTC WELSH FORT LEAVENWORTH, KS 66027 COMMANDER US ARMY COMMUNICATIONS COMMAND ATTN TECH LIB FORT HUACHUCA, AZ 85613 CHIEF US ARMY COMMUNICATIONS SYS AGENCY ATTN LIBRARY FORT MONMOUTH, NJ 07703 COMMANDER US ARMY CONCEPTS ANALYSIS AGENCY ATTN METHODOLOGY & RESOURCES DIR 8120 WOODMONT AVE BETHESDA, MD 20014 COMMANDER US ARMY MATERIALS SYSTEMS ANALYSIS ACTIVITY ATTN DRXSY-CT, TAC OPS ANALYSIS ATTN DRXSY-S, MR. KRAMER ATTN DRXSY-DS, MR. RECHES ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21005 COMMANDER US ARMY NUCLEAR AGENCY ATTN ATCN-S, STUDIES, ANALYSIS & LIT DIV ATTN ATCN-W, WEAPONS EFFECTS DIV 7500 BACKLICK ROAD BUILDING 2073 SPRINGFIELD, VA 22150 COMMANDER US ARMY OPERATIONAL TEST & EVALUATION AGENCY 5500 COLUMBIA PIKE FALLS CHURCH, VA 22041 PROJECT MANAGER FOR SELECTED AMMUNITION ARRADCOM DOVER, NJ 07801 ARMY RESEARCH OFFICE (DURHAM) P.O. BOX 12211 ATTN TECH LIBRARY RESEARCH TRIANGLE PARK, NC 27709 COMMANDER HQ, US ARMY TANK-AUTOMOTIVE MATERIEL READINESS COMMAND ATTN DRSTA-S, DIR FOR PLANS & ANALYSIS WARREN, MI 48090

DISTRIBUTION (Cont'd)

COMMANDER US ARMY TRAINING & DOCTRINE COMMAND ATTN ATCD, DCS COMBAT DEVELOPMENTS, MG MERRYMAN ATTN APCD-SA, MR. O. WELL FORT MONROE, VA 23651

COMMANDER US ARMY ARMOR SCHOOL ATTN ATZK-CD, LTC QUICKMIRE ATTN ATZK-CD, MR. MCCLINTIC FORT KNOX, KY 40121

COMMANDER US ARMY ENGINEER SCHOOL ATTN TECH LIB FORT BELVOIR, VA 22060

COMMANDER US ARMY FIELD ARTILLERY SCHOOL ATTN COMBAT DEV, MAJ MOORE ATTN SCORES, LTC SEAWOOD FORT SILL, OK 73503

COMMANDING GENERAL HQ, US ARMY INFANTRY CENTER (TRADOC) ATTN DEP CG FOR COMBAT, DEV, DOCTRINE & EDUCATION ATTN SCORES, MR. GIBBONS FORT BENNING, GA 31905

COMMANDER US ARMY ORDNANCE CENTER & SCHOOL ATTN TECH LIB ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21005

COMMANDER US ARMY SIGNAL CENTER & SCHOOL ATTN LIBRARIAN BLDG 1207 FORT MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

COMMANDANT US ARMY SOUTHEASTERN SIGNAL SCHOOL ATTN TECH LIB FORT GORDON, GA 30905

COMMANDER US ARMY SPECIAL WARFARE SCHOOL ATTN TECH LIB FORT BRAGG, NC 28307

COMMANDER US ARMY AIR DEFENSE CENTER AND FT. BLISS ATTN TACTICS, LTC WOODS FT BLISS, TX 79916

COMMANDER NAVAL SURFACE WEAPONS CENTER ATTN WA-50, NUCLEAR WEAPONS IFFECTS DIV WHITE OAK, MD 20910

DEPUTY CHIEF OF STAFF, RES & DEV US AIR FORCE ATTN RDQSM, MISSILE & NUCLEAR PROGRAMS DIV WASHINGTON, DC 20330 COMMANDER HO TACTICAL AIR COMMAND LANGLEY AFB, VA 23665 US ARMY ELECTRONICS RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT COMMAND ATTN WISEMAN, ROBERT S., DR., DRDEL-CT ATTN PAO ATTN KELLEY, S. HARRY DIAMOND LABORATORIES ATTN 00100, COMMANDER/TECHNICAL DIF/TSO ATTN CHIEF, 00210 ATTN CHIEF, DIV 10000 ATTN CHIEF, DIV 20000 ATTN CHIEF, DIV 3000 ATTN CHIEF, DIV 4000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 11000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 13000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 15000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 22000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 21000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 34000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 36000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 47000 ATTN CHIEF, LAB 48000 ATTN RECORD COPY, 94100 ATTN HDL LIBRARY, 41000 (5 COPIES) ATTN HDL LIBRARY, 41000 (WOODBRIDGE) ATTN CHAIRMAN, EDITORIAL COMMITTEE ATTN TECHNICAL REPORTS BRANCH, 41300 ATTN LEGAL OFFICE, 97000 ATTN LANHAM, C., 00210 ATTN WILLIS, B., 47400 ATTN WIMENITZ, F., 20240 ATTN ROSADO, J., 22000 ATTN BELLIVEAU, L., 22000 ATTN LEPOER, K., 22000 ATTN MICHALOWICZ, J., 22000 ATTN SPYROPOULOS, C., 22000 ATTN SWEASY, CPT, 22000 ATTN VALLIN, J., 22000 ATTN VAULT, W., 22000 ATTN WICKLUND, J., (10 COPIES)

and wante a state of summary sectors in such a such a such a such as a such a such a such a such a such a such